IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 21-0260

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

DANIELLE WOOD,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Montana Twentieth Judicial District Court, Sanders County, the Honorable Deborah Kim Christopher, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

CHAD WRIGHT Appellate Defender KATHRYN G. HUTCHISON Assistant Appellate Defender Office of State Public Defender Appellate Defender Division P.O. Box 200147 Helena, MT 59620-0147 Kathryn.Hutchison@mt.gov (406) 444-9505

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Issue I: Did the district court err when it allowed an accountability charge to go to the jury when the State failed to put on evidence that Danielle aided or abetted anyone else?

Issue II: Once accountability was instructed, was counsel ineffective for failing to offer a "mere presence" jury instruction?

Issue III: As the gatekeeper of expert testimony, did the district court err under Rule 702 by allowing proffered experts to interpret cellular records and give opinion testimony about the location of a Tracfone without vetting the qualifications of the witnesses or the reliability of the scientific analysis they employed?

Issue IV: Was it an abuse of the court's discretion to allow the State to use a demonstrative exhibit that reflected a major change to their expert witness's most important conclusion, which the State only obliquely disclosed the day prior to his testimony?

Issue V: Did the prosecution repeating a statement that "somebody" could have tested evidence collected at the crime scene after the district court already ordered it not to shift the burden of proof to Danielle warrant a mistrial? Issue VI: Does cumulative error mandate reversal?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State did not arrest anyone after Matthew LaFriniere was found dead at his home in Thompson Falls on the afternoon of May 3, 2018.

Ten months later, on March 19, 2019, Danielle Wood was arrested and charged with deliberate homicide. (D.C. Doc. 1.) Danielle, who shared a child with Matthew, had briefly been at his house the evening of May 2, 2018, looking for him. She was interviewed by law enforcement the day after Matthew was found, and her home was searched. The State later sought leave to amend its Information to include accountability to deliberate homicide. (D.C. Doc. 148.) Danielle objected to the amended Information, given she was the only person alleged to have been involved in Matthew's death, but the court permitted the added charge. (D.C. Docs. 159, 176.)

At the start of its investigation, through search warrants to both Google and Verizon, the State obtained cell phone data for Matthew's phone, Danielle's phone, and a third phone (a Tracfone), which was located in Thompson Falls and had been used to call 911 for a report of

 $\mathbf{2}$

loud noises on the evening of May 2, 2018. (1/14/2021-1/29/2021 Trial Transcript, "Tr." at 1957.) Both Danielle and Matthew had received text messages from this Tracfone as well. (State's Exhibits 254, 302.) The State was only able to obtain very limited call detail records (CDRs), from Verizon for the TracFone. (Tr. at 2221.) Unlike the Tracfone, the State obtained fairly extensive cellular data from both Google and Verizon for Danielle's phone including CDR, Wifi, and GPS location data. (State's Exhibits 253, 254.) Wifi "pings" represented the majority of the location data associated with Danielle's phone. (Tr. at 2151.)

The State noticed Mike Fegly, an employee of a company called ZetX, as an expert witness. The State hired ZetX to interpret the cellular data and draw conclusions about the historic locations of both Danielle's phone and the Tracfone. The proffered testimony involved Fegly's use of a proprietary CDR mapping application that ZetX developed called "TRAX."

Danielle filed a motion *in limine* to exclude the testimony under Mont. Rule Evid. 702. (D.C. Doc. 101.) She argued Fegly's testimony required analysis under *Daubert*¹ because ZetX's methodology for

¹ Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharms., Inc., 509 U.S. 579, (1993).

interpreting the cellular data, including its reliance on TRAX, was untested novel science. Separately, the motion challenged the foundation for Fegly's testimony, arguing he lacked the knowledge and training to draw the conclusions he did from the cellular data. Alternatively, Danielle argued Fegly's conclusions would mislead the jury about the accuracy of the data and should be excluded under Rule 403. (D.C. Doc. 101.)

The State agreed Fegly's proffered testimony required analysis under Rule 702, and agreed some of it required the application of *Daubert*. (D.C. Doc. 105, Pg. 8.) The State requested the district court conduct a *Daubert* hearing. (D.C. Doc. 105, Pg. 7-8.)

The district court held an evidentiary hearing where both parties elicited testimony to test the reliability of the proffered expert testimony. (6/20/2020 Tr. 1-122.) The district court summarily denied Danielle's motion without explicitly applying Rule 702, *Daubert* or Rule 403. (D.C. Doc. 156; attached as Appendix A.) Instead, the district court merely found "the data is valid scientific data," but did not address the reliability of Fegly's methodology. The court simply reasoned the testimony was, "based on the historic use of this data in other matters." (D.C. Doc. 156.)

The week of trial, the State provided the defense an updated copy of a 36-minute video Fegly planned to use to illustrate his conclusions. (State's Exhibit 256, admitted at Tr. 2199.) In the middle of trial, the State placed another copy of the video on the defense table, but never disclosed Fegly had changed his conclusions and significantly altered the video exhibit. When the defense found out, it requested the video be excluded as a discovery sanction. The district court denied the request. (Tr. at 2117-9, 2123-4; attached as Appendix B.)

At the end of the State's case in chief, together with the deliberate homicide allegation, the defense moved to dismiss the accountability charge as the prosecution had presented insufficient evidence that Danielle was legally accountable for the acts of some other person. (Tr. at 2471-7.) The State did not name any accomplice. Danielle argued both that the accountability charge should be dismissed as a matter of law and that the State should not be permitted to argue an accountability theory to the jury.

 $\mathbf{5}$

The district court denied the motion to dismiss and instructed the jury on accountability over Danielle's objection. (Attached as Appendix C.) After two days of deliberations, the jury returned a guilty verdict. (D.C. Doc. 402; Tr. at 2644.) The verdict form did not differentiate between deliberate homicide and accountability for deliberate homicide. Danielle was sentenced to life in prison without parole. (D.C. Doc. 462; attached as Appendix D.)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On May 2, 2018, Danielle Wood hosted a Pampered Chef gathering at her house in Thompson Falls. (Tr. at 1130.) From about 6 p.m. until 9 p.m., Danielle and three other women were testing a new cookie recipe and baked several batches. (Tr. at 1131-33.) Danielle was spearheading a cancer awareness project for the group, and so the cookies had pink ribbons and white icing. (Tr. at 1144.) Ms. Wood's daughter S.L. was outside playing basketball with her older halfbrother, Hunter. (Tr. at 1133.)

Danielle was expecting to drop S.L. off at her father, Matthew LaFriniere's house around 7:00-7:30 p.m. that night. (Tr. at 2407.) But at 7:07 p.m., Danielle received a text message from an anonymous

phone number, which said, "Held up in Trout Creek, just hang on to S.L., I'll call when I head back to town. matt." (Tr. at 1413.) One of the other women was in the room with Danielle and saw the text come in. (Tr. at 1150.)

About 7:30 p.m., Danielle decided to drive to Matthew's house to find out whether he was home, despite the odd text. (Tr. at 1132, 1154.) Danielle had been in custody battles with Matthew over their daughter and thought maybe he was setting her up to miss a scheduled drop-off. (Tr. at 1132.) Matthew had full custody of their daughter due to Danielle's struggle with alcohol addiction. He was allowing Danielle frequent visits with S.L. at that time, outside the official custody arrangement, and Danielle was concerned about keeping to the agreement so that would not change. (Tr. at 1132-33, 1155, 2374.) She did not take S.L. with her when she left. (Tr. at 1145.)

Danielle was away from her house a total of about 30-40 minutes. (Tr. at 1138.) Wifi location data obtained from Google for Danielle's cell phone confirmed her Pampered Chef guests' recollections: The Wifi data showed Danielle arrived at Matthew's house no earlier than 7:38:46 p.m. (Tr. at 2293). The State's cell phone expert confirmed that the Wifi

 $\mathbf{7}$

and GPS records also indicate she must have left this location no later than 7:49 p.m. or 7:50 p.m., because her phone was already quite far from Matthew's house by 7:53 p.m. (Tr. at 2293.)

When Danielle returned home, she resumed the cookie baking project with the others. (Tr. at 1138.) Danielle said she was upset because Matt was not home. Her guests remembered her clothing was the same, and she was not sweaty, breathing hard or noticeably distraught. (Tr. at 1136-8.) Danielle was wearing the same clothing she left in. Danielle had bought everyone pink, black and white leggings to wear as part of a cancer awareness promotion, which she was wearing. (Tr. at 1133, 1146.) Before the group left for the night, at about 9:20 p.m., they took a group picture wearing the leggings. (Tr. at 1145-6.)

After her Pampered Chef guests had left, at 9:32 p.m., Danielle texted both Matthew's phone and the Tracfone she had received Matthew's message from earlier, to say, "I am not sure what is going on. But, it is way past bed time. We'll snuggle on the couch and wait for your call. Hope I am doing the right thing." (Tr. at 1413.)

Danielle had tried calling Matthew several times after not being able to find him that evening; once right after she left his house, at 7:54

p.m., once when she returned home at 8:02 p.m., at 9:29 p.m. just before texting him, and again at 10:45 p.m. (Tr. at 1942-45.) Danielle's son, Hunter, called her while she was gone from the house, at 7:54 p.m., a call which lasted 27 seconds. (Tr. at 1942.)

The next day, May 3, Matthew didn't show up for work at the local hardware store. (Tr. at 1182.) A coworker went to his house to look for him, looked around, saw nothing amiss and decided he wasn't there. (Tr. at 1183-7.) Later that afternoon, another friend went to Matthew's house and found Matthew's body under a piece of plywood. There was a 2x6 and shovel on top of the plywood. (Tr. at 1203.) Some distance from where she found Matthew, she saw a cell phone in the driveway, next to a small pool of blood and a cigarette butt. (Tr. at 1209.)

Matthew had been shot three times, from the front and the back. Only one bullet was found, lodged in his hand. The lead investigator noted his wounds indicated the shots were taken from farther away, not close-range. (Tr. at 2002.) There were no eyewitnesses.

The State's blood expert was not able to conclude whether Matthew was dragged to where his body was found, or whether he was instead shot in the driveway at the first pool of blood and walked the

approximately 17 feet prior to falling where he was ultimately found. (Tr. at 2337, 2343.) There was no blood found between the pool of blood and where Matt's body was found. (Tr. at 2343.) The lead investigator felt only a rather strong person could have moved Matthew's body. (Tr. at 2003.)

When looking through his home, law enforcement noted that Matthew owned quite a few firearms, several of which were not secured. (Tr. at 1577-78.) Matthew kept a loaded handgun next to his bed on his nightstand. (Tr. at 1280.) Law enforcement took the plywood, 2x6 and shovel under which Matthew was found, but did not attempt to lift fingerprints from that evidence, or from the doorknob to Matt's house, a nearby chickencoop latch, or bar leaning against chicken coop. (Tr. at 1593-4.)

The State's case is based on circumstantial evidence and if true, would have had to have occurred on a very tight timeline. The following sets out the State's timeline.

Mark Riffle was the last person to see Matthew alive. (Tr. at 1126.) Mark was loading railroad ties from about 6:30 p.m. until 7:45 p.m. on Airport Road near the lumber mill when Matthew drove by and

stopped to chat. (Tr. at 1118-1121.) Mark said he chatted with Matthew for five to ten minutes at about 7:15 or 7:20 p.m., then Matthew got in his truck and left. (Tr. at 1120-21.) Mark did not see whether Matthew was driving away from or toward home. (Tr. at 1123.)

Lydia LaFriniere, Matthew's step-mother, saw Danielle at Matthew's house just prior to 7:40 p.m., consistent with the Wifi cellular data and with what Danielle told her Pampered Chef guests. Lydia had a job cleaning the lumber mill in Thompson Falls and passed by within 100 feet of Matthew's house just before entering the mill. (Tr. at 1067.) Danielle was walking back and forth in the driveway. (Tr. at 1069.) Lydia drove slowly by and watched Danielle for about three minutes, she said Danielle was always in Lydia's sight and was just walking in the driveway, with nothing in her hands. (Tr. at 1085.) The front gate at the lumber mill records when people enter. (Tr. at 1092, State's Exhibit 268.) The mill's records show Lydia arriving at the entrance gate at 7:40 p.m. (Tr. at 1093.) She left at 9:13 p.m. (Tr. at 1093.)

Megan Miho was in Thompson Falls on May 2 visiting friends. After dinner, she went on a walk with her two-year-old daughter and

their family friends who lived in the same area Matthew did. Between 7:25 p.m. and 7:42 p.m., she heard gunshots. (Tr. at 1034.) She was confident of the timing because Megan took a few pictures on her phone that night and she heard the gunshots after she took her first photograph but before she took a second. She is certain the shots came before she stopped to arrange a picture of her two-year-old daughter in a field with horses. (Tr. at 1032, 1055.) She remembered the shots happening "past 7:30 p.m. maybe into 7:35," a few minutes before arriving at the horses. (Tr. at 1055.) She remembers taking time to get her daughter, herself, and her friends' dogs set up for the posed photo. The posed photo was taken at 7:42 p.m. Megan repeatedly testified the shots came most likely about 7:35 p.m., but when the prosecution pressed her, she said she supposed it was possible the shots could have occurred as late as 7:41 p.m. at the very latest. (Tr. at 1055-7.) In its closing argument, the State repeatedly misstates Megan's testimony, saying she said the gunshots occurred at 7:43 p.m. (Tr. at 2557, 2590.)

The Cellular Data

The raw cellular data was admitted as business records. (State's Exhibits 253, 254; admitted at Tr. 1957, 1962.) The custodians of those

records from Google and Verizon testified remotely. Both witnesses testified that they have no knowledge of the accuracy of such data to show a person's location, they could attest only that their respective companies collect and keep this data about their customers in the course of business. (Tr. at 1886, 1931.) Both the Google and Verizon data comes with general disclaimers about the inherent inaccuracy of such data. (Tr. at 1886, 1931.)

Typically, when analysis of call detail records, CDRs, is admitted in criminal prosecutions as evidence of a person's location, the witness is using a methodology called "triangulation." Aaron Blank, *The Limitations and Admissibility of Using Historical Cellular Site Data to Track the Location of a Cellular Phone*, 18 Rich. J.L. & Tech. 3 at 41.

Triangulation was impossible here because there is only one cellular tower in Thompson Falls. Instead, Fegly mapped out the only data he had for the Tracfone, which was Verizon Real Time Tool ("RTT") distance estimates from just one cell tower. (Tr. at 2141.)

RTT is an approximation Verizon makes about the distance a phone may be from a cellular tower based on the time it took for a cellular signal to bounce off the device and return to the tower.

(6/16/2020 Tr. at 82-85; Tr. at 2057.) The accuracy of any single RTT distance estimate can be thrown off by geographic features such as mountains, rivers, and metal buildings. (Tr. at 2083.) Fegly acknowledged the only "very little amount of time it takes to throw that [RTT distance measurement] off by several hundred feet or even 50 yards at times." (Tr. at 2232.) He said, "go behind a metal building and you'll see, because that little bit of interference from the metal [it] takes longer for the signal to get to your phone and to get back to the tower. (Tr. at 2232.) For this reason, the RTT estimates are only an approximation of distance based on the time measurement recorded. (Tr. at 2075.)

By contrast, with triangulation, the RTT are mapped for at least three separate cell towers to which a phone has "pinged." Mapping RTT estimates from three separate towers somewhat reduces the inherent inaccuracies of this data. Aaron Blank, *supra*.

Verizon only uses RTT records for accounting and billing purposes. (6/16/2020 Tr. at 101-102; Tr. at 2075.)

Verizon's disclaimer for RTT estimates reads:

Verizon Wireless RTT Report and Round Trip Delay Disclaimer:

The latitude and longitude measurements on the Real Time Tool "RTT" report are derived solely from the Round Trip Delay measurement. They are best estimates and are not related to any GPS measurement. Measurements with a high confidence factor may be more accurate than measurements with a low confidence factor, but all measurements contained on this report are the best estimates available rather than precise location.

State's Exhibit 254.

The Tracfone in this case only has RTT data associated with it, not GPS or WiFi. ZetX's owner, Sy Ray, acknowledged the "important thing to understand" about testimony using RTT estimates is its "not precise." (Tr. at 2163). RTT measurements are not, "meant to put you on an X marks the spot." (Tr. at 2232.) According to Ray, RTT distance estimates can be off by about 0.1 of a mile, on average, a little more than two football fields. (Tr. at 2145.) He has seen it be off by a full mile. (Tr. at 2082.) Fegly admitted only a Verizon engineer would really know about the accuracy rate of RTT distances in general, and admitted he did nothing to test the accuracy of the estimates coming from the Thompson Falls cell tower. (6/16/2020 Tr. at 108.) Neither Fegly nor Ray consulted with anyone at Verizon about the tower servicing Thompson Falls or about the accuracy of the distance measurements generated by that tower specifically. (6/16/2020 Tr. at 101-102.)

Fegly also explained an RTT line can only show that a phone is somewhere along 120-160 degrees of the radius of a circle; if an RTT estimate is 3.74 miles, then this is the radius size of the circle. (6/16/2020 Tr. at 48.) That is, any given RTT distance estimate gives only a very long arcing line, spanning a greater distance than the width of Thompson Falls, west to east. (Tr. at 2157.)

In sharp contrast to their testimony about the wide margins of error for RTT distance estimates, both Fegly and Ray gave very detailed opinion testimony specifically placing the Tracfone "right on top" of Danielle's phone on May 2 and on April 19, the only two dates where RTT data is available. Ray opined that the two phones, "perfectly track with each other" whenever the Tracfone was powered on. (Tr. at 2097.) Ray told the jury the phones were, "almost perfectly paired," and "they're always right on top of each other." (Tr. at 2085, 2088.) Ray said it was "mathematically impossible" for the phones not to be "in very close proximity." (Tr. at 2088.) He told the jury that when the Tracfone is first activated, Danielle's phone "is right on top of" an RTT distance

estimate for the TracFone. (Tr. at 2103.) He even concluded "it's clear that this phone's being used by a particular individual." (Tr. at 2101.)

Fegly said "the RTT matches" for the two phones at the time the TracFone is activated. (Tr. at 2171.) He also placed Danielle and the Tracfone together on May 2 when the Tracfone sent Danielle two text messages, one at 1:41 p.m. saying "Don't you get it. Quit calling them" and another at 7:07 p.m., the "Trout Creek" text from Matthew.

When pressed by the defense, Fegly admitted the limited Tracfone data meant very large swatches of Thompson Falls were included within the error range for the Tracfone's location and his conclusions were based on very limited data. (Tr. at 2,157, 2221.)

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