IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 21-0260

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

DANIELLE WOOD,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Twentieth Judicial District Court, Sanders County, The Honorable Deborah Kim Christopher, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN Montana Attorney General BJORN BOYER Assistant Attorney General P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59620-1401 Phone: 406-444-2026 bjorn.boyer@mt.gov

MEGAN HANSEN
Sanders County Attorney
DANIEL M. GUZYNSKI
STEPHANIE ROBLES
Special Deputy County Attorneys
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59601

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF AND APPELLEE

CHAD WRIGHT
Appellate Defender
KATHRYN G. HUTCHISON

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

Finally, the theories used by Ray and Fegely are generally accepted in the scientific field. CSLI evidence is universally used across the country by federal, state, and local law enforcement agencies. CSLI evidence has been admitted in thousands of trials.

The district court did not abuse its discretion by admitting the CSLI evidence. The evidence was scientific in nature and appropriate for expert

testimony. Both Ray and Fegely were qualified expert witnesses. The State laid an appropriate foundation to show the reliability of the evidence, which was corroborated numerous times by other undisputed evidence. The district court correctly followed the requirements of Rule 702 to "admit [the] relevant scientific evidence . . . and allow its weight to be attacked by cross-examination and refutation." *Hulse*, ¶ 49.

B. There was sufficient foundation for Ray's and Fegely's testimony and conclusions.

Wood uses several law review articles to call into question the reliability of the CSLI evidence. (Br. at 52-54.) The articles question the reliability and error rates associated with RTT data. However, the fact that the data does not give a precise location for cellphones was conceded by the State. Both Ray and Fegely repeatedly testified that the evidence should not be used to put a cellphone in a precise location, such as inside a specific building, and that the error rate can be up to one-tenth of a mile, approximately 500 feet. However, this does not make the evidence inadmissible.

As stated above, this Court has repeatedly held that it is "best to admit relevant scientific evidence" and have it be subject to the crucible of cross-examination. *Hulse*, ¶ 49. In this case, both Ray and Fegely were subject to cross-examination. Wood also hired her own expert who reviewed the data and conferred with Wood's attorneys, but, for reasons not explicit in the record, Wood

elected not to call him to testify. (*See* Tr. at 2114-15.) This Court should not use the law review articles cited by Wood in her brief to substitute its judgment on the evidence for the expert testimony at trial that was weighed and found to be admissible by the district court. Unlike Ray's and Fegely's testimony in this case, Wood's law review articles were not subject to cross-examination at trial.

Wood also attacks what she claims to be the "scant cell tower" data for the TracFone. (Br. at 56.) Here, Fegely used approximately 20 RTT data points from the TracFone on which to base his opinion that the TracFone's location was always consistent with the location of Wood's cellphone. Wood's cellphone contained more data points because it was constantly powered on between April 19 and May 2, 2018. Although the TracFone had fewer data points, there was sufficient data to establish a pattern.

Ray conceded that if you isolated a single set of data points for both phones that showed they were the same distance from the tower at a specific time, it was "absolutely" possible that the phones were at different locations on the radial arc. (Tr. at 2087-88.) However, he opined that in looking at the "entire record set together[,]" the data always showed the phones at similar distances from the tower, that the arcs were "always right on top of each other." (*Id.*) An increasing number of datapoints suggested it would be "mathematically impossible" for the phones to always be on the same arc simply by coincidence. (*Id.*) In sum: once is chance,

twice is coincidence, three times is a pattern. Here, there was an undisputable pattern.

In her brief, Wood claims that neither Ray nor Fegely would be qualified to offer this opinion because neither had "radio-frequency expertise." (Br. at 58.)

However, one does not need to have radio frequency expertise to determine that it would be "mathematically impossible" for two phones to have approximately twenty data points, on two different dates, in multiple different locations—both in Missoula and Thompson Falls—all fall on the same radial arc distance from the tower unless the phones were together.

Moreover, that conclusion was not made in a vacuum looking solely at the RTT evidence. The conclusion was supported by other evidence, such as the fact that Wood's cellphone called the TracFone customer service line soon after the TracFone was first activated, that the RTT data was consistent with being near Wood's residence, and that the TracFone's RTT data was consistent with it being on Golf Street at the time the 9-1-1 call was made, which is where the 9-1-1 caller reported herself to be. Accordingly, the district court did not err by admitting Ray's and Fegely's testimony.

///

- C. Ray's and Fegely's testimony met the reliability threshold to be admissible.
 - 1. Neither Ray nor Fegely overpromised on the meaning of the data.

Fegely testified that the data from Wood's cellphone and the TracFone were "consistent with them traveling together." (Tr. at 2219, 2260.) On appeal, Wood argues that this testimony was "not supported by the underlying data." (Br. at 62.) Wood argues that because each arc has an error rate, which makes the data imprecise, one cannot conclude that the arcs were paired. However, this logic is flawed. If the measurements are as imprecise and flawed as Wood now claims, you would expect greater variability between the arcs if the phones were not together, not less.

For example, Wood now argues that the RTT estimates can be "thrown off significantly by signal interference caused by geographic features" (Br. at 62.) However, it is only logical that two cellphones in the same location would encounter the same interference. Conversely, cellphones only coincidentally on the same arc over repeated data points, but actually in different locations on the arc, would confront variable interference, which would presumably result in a greater variance between the arcs. Accordingly, the fact that the RTT data points mirrored each other for both cellphones over time lent to the credibility of the RTT data and Ray's and Fegely's opinion that the phones were "traveling together."

Again, both Ray and Fegely were clear that RTT data cannot be used to imply a precise location. (*See*, *e.g.*, Tr. at 2163.) For that reason, Fegely couched his testimony by saying that the data was "consistent with" the phones "traveling together." (Tr. at 2260.)

Furthermore, at trial, Wood never objected to the language Ray or Fegely used to describe how the data suggested the phones were together. Accordingly, the district court was not presented with the opportunity to limit Ray's or Fegely's testimony. Because their testimony was generally admissible as expert testimony, Wood was required to raise objections if their testimony went beyond what should have been allowed. Because Wood failed to do so, she has waived her argument on appeal to the specific language used by Ray and Fegely to describe the movement of the two cellphones. *See State v. Sedler*, 2020 MT 248, ¶ 10, 401 Mont. 437, 473 P.3d 406.

Ironically, it was Wood who argued at trial that the CSLI evidence was precise. (*See* Tr. at 2605.) Wood inaccurately used the CSLI evidence to argue that "[t]he earliest time [she] could have arrived at Matt's is 7:38 and 46 seconds." *Id.* Wood parroted this argument in her opening brief. (*See* Br. at 18.) Wood then argued she could not have committed the murder because Miho approximated that she heard the gunshots around 7:35 p.m., but no later than 7:41 p.m., and Wood did

not have time to commit the murder between her time of arrival and the time she was observed by Lydia prior to 7:40 p.m.

Not only does Wood's argument rely on her RTT data being precisely accurate, it also relies on an assumption that three varying time keeping mechanisms (Wood's cellphone, Miho's cellphone, and the lumber mill clock) were all perfectly synced. There was no evidence to support that assumption.

Importantly, Lydia's arrival at Thompson River Lumber was an approximation.

Moreover, Wood's argument that the RTT data was precise and shows she could not have arrived before 7:38:46 p.m. was not correct. The RTT data was first consistent with Wood arriving at Matthew's residence as early as 7:36:55 p.m. (Ex. 256 at 24:07-25:08.) Accordingly, Wood could have arrived at Matthew's residence prior to 7:38:46 p.m., fired the shots heard by Miho, and been observed by Lydia thereafter, prior to Lydia continuing her short journey to Thompson River Lumber and checking in sometime around 7:40 p.m.

Wood cannot argue that the State overpromised on the evidence being "consistent with" her cellphone and the TracFone being together while contrarily arguing that it was so precise that Wood could not have arrived at Matthew's residence prior to 7:38:46 p.m. In sum, it was Wood, not Ray or Fegely, who argued that the RTT data was precise enough to put Wood in a specific place at a specific time. On the contrary, Ray and Fegely were careful to say that the

evidence could not put a person at a specific place at a specific time. Instead, due to consistent data points over time, it was only certain that Wood's cellphone and the TracFone were together.

2. The RTT data was admissible under Rule 702; *Daubert* did not apply.

Wood next argues that a *Daubert* hearing was required for the RTT data, even if it was not required for the other CSLI. (Br. at 63.) Wood does not cite any authority to support her position, other than a newspaper article for a case where it is not clear if RTT data was even used. (*See* Br. at 64.) However, in *Berry*, the Minnesota Supreme Court addressed "timing-advance data," which is synonymous with RTT data, and found that use of such evidence was not novel. *Berry*, 982 N.W.2d at 753-55. Ray has been using similar data, first in his investigations as a law enforcement officer and, later, as the owner of ZetX, for approximately 20 years. The district court did not abuse its discretion by admitting the RTT evidence.

Wood next attempts to liken RTT data to a "novel location technique called 'granularization." (Br. at 64.) As Wood points out, this theory has been disapproved of in at least one court case. *See United States v. Evans*, 892 F. Supp. 2d 949 (N.D. Ill. 2012). However, in his testimony at the motions hearing, Fegely explicitly stated that "granularization" was not used in this case. (Mot. Tr. at 53.) Therefore, this case is more like *Berry* and distinguishable from *Evans*.

3. The district court did not abuse its discretion by allowing Fegely to present CSLI evidence using the TRAX software.

The TRAX software simply takes CSLI and plots it on a map chronologically. (Tr. at 2051-52.) Fegely could have done the same by hand; however, doing so becomes time consuming with voluminous data points.

(Mot. Tr. at 43.) TRAX maps can be corroborated by looking at the underlying CSLI provided by a cellphone company. (*Id.*)

Wood argues that TRAX is novel and its reliability has not been verified.

(Br. at 69-72.) The defendant in *Nelson* made the same argument. *See Nelson*,
533 F. Supp. 3d at 797-98. There, the United States District Court for the Northern
District of California rejected the argument because the reliability of the software
was easily verifiable by doublechecking the underlying data to ensure the software
was correctly mapping it. *Id.* Likewise, in *Ramirez*, the Washington Court of
Appeals observed that "computer programs routinely generate maps that
correspond to real-world data." *Ramirez*, 425 P.3d at 544. The court further noted
that, although "the FBI has not shared its proprietary software for external
validation, the assumptions on which the software operated were transparent and
readily capable of testing and replication." *Id.*

Here, despite having all the data that Fegely put into the TRAX software,
Wood did not seriously dispute the reliability of how TRAX mapped the data

points. Wood did not claim that TRAX had mistakenly plotted any of the CSLI.

The mapping software is not novel and *Daubert* does not apply. The district court did not abuse its discretion by allowing Fegely to testify regarding the TRAX software and how it mapped the CSLI evidence.

Wood also faults Fegely for not conducting a "drive test." Failure to consider another test to ensure the accuracy of an expert's testimony is a subject matter for cross-examination. However, an expert not conducting a test that defense counsel believes might have been relevant, does not mean the expert's testimony should be excluded in whole.

4. If admitting the CSLI was error, such error was harmless.

This Court assesses trial errors that occurred during the presentation of a case to the jury for harmless error. *State v. Mercier*, 2021 MT 12, ¶ 30, 403 Mont. 34, 479 P.3d 967. Trial errors are "amenable to qualitative assessment by a reviewing court for prejudicial impact relative to the other evidence introduced at trial[.]" *Id.* (quoting *State v. Van Kirk*, 2001 MT 184, ¶ 38, 306 Mont. 215, 32 P.3d 735). Where an error led to the admission of improper evidence, this Court will assess the remaining admissible evidence to determine if there was cumulative evidence that proved the same facts as the tainted evidence. *Mercier*, ¶ 31. If an established error was preserved for appeal, then the State has the burden of showing the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Mercier*, ¶ 31.

The CSLI in this case was used for two primary purposes. First, the evidence was used to corroborate that Wood used the TracFone to send herself a decoy message and then used it to make the diversionary 9-1-1 call. Second, the evidence was used to show Wood's cellphone traveling to and from Matthew's residence, showing a timeline that was consistent with the shots Miho heard coming from that direction.

However, the State offered sufficient cumulative evidence proving both points beyond a reasonable doubt. First, Wood's cellphone called TracFone customer service right as the TracFone was first activated. Later, the 9-1-1 caller using the TracFone stated she was making the call from Golf Street. The entirety of Golf Street is approximately five to six blocks and makes a half-circle around Wood's residence on Eddy Street. (*See* Ex. 256 at 16:00-16:51.) All of Golf Street is within a couple of blocks of Wood's residence. Golf Street is the logical street to exit from Wood's neighborhood onto Highway 200 to go toward Matthew's residence.

Both King and Merritt-Savage described Wood leaving her residence soon before the 9-1-1 call was made. It was never disputed that the 9-1-1 caller provided false information, which occupied the only two Sanders County sheriff's deputies on duty, in an apparent attempt to send them in the opposite direction from Matthew's residence. Just minutes later, Wood's vehicle was seen on video

traveling east toward Matthew's residence. This circumstantial evidence alone was sufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Wood was the 9-1-1 caller, thus linking her to the TracFone, independent from the CSLI. Accordingly, Wood was also linked to the TracFone for the purpose of proving that she sent herself the decoy message purporting to be Matthew saying he was held up in Trout Creek.

There was also cumulative evidence showing Wood was at Matthew's residence during the time frame Miho heard the gunshots. First, Wood told King and Merritt-Savage that she was going to Matthew's residence. The Phillips 66 video showed Wood exiting Highway 200 onto Airport Road at approximately 7:34 p.m. Miho heard the shots before 7:41 p.m., and Lydia saw Wood at Matthew's residence before 7:40 p.m. according to the imprecise sign-in sheet at the lumbermill. There was sufficient cumulative evidence to show that Wood traveled to Matthew's residence in a timeframe that was consistent with Miho hearing the gunshots. Accordingly, if admitting the evidence was error, it was harmless.

D. Fegely's video presentation did not violate Rules 403 or 702.

At trial, defense counsel moved to exclude Fegely's video presentation, arguing that the State had committed a discovery violation, which the State will address in more detail below. (Tr. at 2108-13.) However, after the district court overruled that objection, Wood did not further object to the admission of the

presentation, which was admitted as Exhibit 256. (*Id.* at 2197-98.) Now, for the first time on appeal, Wood argues that Exhibit 256 should have been excluded under Rules 403 and 702. This Court should reject Wood's argument as being raised for the first time on appeal. *See Sedler*, ¶ 10. However, even if the Court reaches the merits of the argument, Exhibit 256 was admissible.

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